2008-CA-00575

I. CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record for the Appellant hereby certifies that the following persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

- 1. Walter Reid Elliott, Southaven, Ms.
- 2. Dolores Elaine Elliott, Nesbit, Ms.
- 3. David L. Walker, Southaven, Ms.
- 4. H.R. Garner, Hernando, Ms.

Respectfully submitted,

This the day of October 2008.

David L. Walker

Counsel for Appellant

II.

IV. STATEMENT OF ISSUE

Whether the chancellor erred in awarding the Appellee permanent periodic alimony in the amount of five hundred dollars per month.

V. STATEMEMT OF THE CASE

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The Appellant, Walter Reid Elliott, filed a complaint for divorce, in the Chancery Court of Desoto County, Mississippi on February 9, 2007. Clerk's Record. at 4-7. The Appellee, Dolores Elaine Elliott, filed an answer and defenses to the complaint and counter-complaint for divorce. Clerk's record 8-18. A trial was conducted by the chancery court on February 28th, 2008. The Appellee was granted a divorce from the Appellant on the grounds of uncondoned adultery pursuant to section 93-5-1 MCA. Clerk's record at 19-20. The chancery court also made an equitable division of the marital property of the parties and determined the custody, care, control and support of the minor child of the parties. Clerk's record at 20-24. The Appellant filed a notice of appeal of the Chancery's Judgment of Divorce and in particular the Court's award of "permanent periodic alimony" in the amount of five hundred dollars per month effective April 1, 2008 until modified by the trial court, death of one of the parties and remarriage of the Appellee whichever event transpires first. Clerk's record at 26.

APPELLEE'S TRIAL WITNESSES WALTER REID ELLIOTT

At the time of the trial the Appellant was fifty eight years old. R. at 15. He married the Appellee on March 11th, 1982. Id. The parties had two children during the marriage, Jennifer, born on May 12th, 1983 and Jessica, born on May 4th, 1988. R. at 16. Jessica was attending junior college and lived with the Appellee at the time of the trial. R. at 16-17.

The Appellant was employed by the Desoto County Schools and had worked there for three years. The Appellee had worked during the marriage, including part-time at a dental lab and for the Desoto County School System as an assistant teacher. R. at 18. The Appellant has a GED. Id. He had attended some technical schools. R. at 19. He is currently in charge of maintenance on vehicles, transportation. Id. At the time of the trial he no longer held a part-time job that had paid \$7.00 per hour. R. at 20. He had to quit this job because of it being hard on his knees and back. R. at 21. Back surgery is a possibility. He takes medication for his knee pain. Id. He had group health insurance on himself and Jessica. The Appellee had her own health insurance. R. at 22. He had cashed in a 401 retirement fund after separation from the Appellee. He kept \$9500 and put \$2500 in the family checking account. After taxes and peralties, he cleared approximately \$4200. R. at 23. These funds were acquired during the term of the marriage. R. at 24.

The marital home of the parties was built from the proceeds of a \$33,000 to \$35,000 loan from the Appellee's father. R. at 25. This loan was repaid. Id. The Appellant valued the marital furniture at \$5,000. R. at 27. He did not take any of this property when departed the marital residence. R. at 29. He has a debt to the IRS of \$4000 for cashing in a 401-K. R. at 31. The only retirement plan that he participated in was via his employer. He did not participate in the state deferred compensation plan. R. at 37.

The Appellant left the Appellee because it became incredibly impossible to satisfy her in anything that he did or did not do. R. at 38. He knows

Connic Hartfield, but asserted the Fifth Amendment as to whether he had a sexual relationship with her. Id. He sees her. Id. He also knew Donna

Taylor. He also asserted the Fifth Amendment as to whether he had a sexual relationship with her. R. at 39. She worked for him during the summer. Id. He characterized the Appellee as a "fair" wife. R. at 42.

He departed the marital home of his own accord. R. at 45. He helps Ms.

Hartfield and son do a lot of things. Id.

The Appellant gross income is \$43,000 and the Appellee's gross income is \$12,000 per year. R. at 46. He gives the minor child of the parties cash to help her go to school. R. at 47.

Appellee lives with Cynthia Thomas in addition to the minor child. R. at 49. Ms. Thomas stays overnight at the marital house. R. at 50. The Appellee attacked the Appellant as a person. R. at 52.

On cross examination the Appellant testified that he was born on November 7th, 1949. R. at 55. He and the Appellee separated on or about June 1st, 2006. Id. The marital house was acquired on December 30th, 1987. Id. The debt on this house has been paid for two or three years. R. at 56. The Appellee's father was paid back approximately \$30,000 for the marital house. Id. This sum was paid back out of the Appellant's funds. Id. The minor child works full-time at Sonic. R. at 56.

The Appellant has problems with his back and knees. Id. He will require back surgery if his pain continues. R. at 57. The Appellant only as technical education and no college degree. Id. The Appellant's health is worse than it was two to three years ago. R. at 58. He did not foresee any promotions in his employment. Id. He does not get any performance bonuses, but does get a cost-of-living raise. Id. His wife's vehicle is paid for and she works full time as an assistant teacher. R. at 59. He provides the minor child funds whenever she needs them. Id. She is on full scholarship. Id. At the time of the trial, the Appellee had free use of the home furnishings

The Appellant's monthly gross income is \$3675.60 R. at 66. The primarily wealth of the parties consisted of the marital home and three acres of land. R. 60-61. He was not vested in his state retirement account. R. at 68.

DONNA TAYLOR

Donna Taylor knew the Appellant. R. at 72. She and the Appellant worked for the same employer at the same time. R. at 73. He was her supervisor at one of her jobs. Id. The Appellant was extremely flirtatious with her. Id. He took her crappie fishing. R. at 74. She was under the impression that he was about to be divorced. Id. Her relationship with him lasted from October 2005 until January 2006. R. at 76. She engaged in sexual relations with him. Id. According to Ms. Taylor, the Appellant left her for Connie Hartfield. R. at 77.

On cross examination Ms. Taylor testified that her relationship with the Appellant was voluntary. R. at 82. Her husband did not know about her relationship with the Appellant initially, but did before his death. R. at 83. She enjoyed her time with the Appellant. R. at 85.

HARRY GARNER

Harry Garner is the older brother of the Appellee. R. at 86. The Appellee worked for him in a dental laboratory from 1993 until 2005. R.

at 88. She worked on an as needed basis and made between eight and nine dollars per hour. R. at 88-89. She has a GED. R. at 93. The Appellee provided a substantial amount of care for her eighty three year old mother. R. at 94.

On cross examination Mr. Garner testified that he and the Appellee expect to inherit property, money etc. when their parents die. R. at 99. The Appellee's carpal tunnel syndrome did not stop her from working as a dental technician. R. at 100.

ARCHIE R. GARNER

Archie R. Garner is the father of the Appellee. R. at 102. Her gave his daughter three acres of land. Id. He has not had to help out his daughter from a financial standpoint after she separated from the Appellant. R. at 107.

On cross examination Mr. Garner testified that the Appellee and Appellant repaid the \$30,000 loan used to build the marital house. R. at 109. When he dies, he intends to divide his property equally between his children. R. at 110. The Appellant was a good father to the children of the parties. R. at 111.

DOLORES ELLIOTT

At the time of the trial the Appellee was fifty four years old.

Her health problems include carpal tunnel syndrome in her hands, arthritis in her feet, back and knees and high blood pressure. R. at 112-113. She has a GED and went to cosmetology school. She worked as a hairdresser for about a year thirty five years ago. R. at 113. She also worked for her father and brother at a dental lab. Id. She did not believe that her health would permit her to return to work as a dental lab worker. R. at 114. At the time of the trial, she worked as a teacher's assistant at \$8.49 per hour. Id. On average she makes \$1039.00 per month. R. at 115. Jessica's automobile is in the Appellee's name. R. at 117. However, Jessica pays the note on the vehicle. Id. Jessica helps her mother financially. She has paid an Entergy bill, a cell telephone bill and bought a few groceries. The Appellant has given Jessica some money. Id. From the time the Appellant walked out he kept his paycheck in the bank up until September or October. Then he stopped putting it in there. R. at 118-119.

The Appellee discovered that the Appellant was having an affair via a text message on his cell telephone. This message was "Good night, Baby, I love you." R. at 119. One day she saw the Appellant get into Ms. Hartfield's truck. R. at 121. She has seen his vehicle parked in Ms. Hartfield's apartment complex. R. at 123. She did not know about her husband's affairs until he departed the marital home. Id. She would not

accept the Appellant back as a husband. R. at 124. During the marriage of the parties, both the Appellant and Appellee agreed that the Appellee should stay home and be a wife and mother. R. at 126. She did not cash her 2007 tax refund check until the Appellant stopped putting his check in the bank. R. at 128. Her car is paid for. R. at 129. She claimed monthly living expenses of \$2100 per month. R. at 135. This included prorated taxes and insurance. Id. She requested support from the Appellant of \$800.00 per month. R. at 136. She was of the opinion that she could get a job at Wal-Mart if she needed to pay bills. Id. The value of the Appellant's retirement account was \$7548.75 and the value of the Appellee's retirement account was \$1500. R. at 137. The ex-sister-in-law, who lives with the Appellee and her minor daughter, has helped out some on the household bills and purchased some groceries. Id.

On cross examination the Appellee agreed that the marital house was the major asset of the parties accumulated during the marriage. R. at 141. She admitted that her income was supplemented by funds given to her by her ex-sister-in-law, Cynthia Thomas. Id. The son of Ms. Thomas sometimes stays with the Appellee. These two individuals add to the household expenses. R. at 142. For example, her utility bill is higher. She met the Appellant in a barroom and had been married twice before

marrying the Appellant. R. at 143-144. The Appellee voluntarily has homeowner's insurance on the marital home. R. at 145. The Appellee wanted to stay home during the marriage. R. at 146. Her only living expenses were such items as utilities, food and things of that nature. R. at 148. She admitted that she did not have a house note to pay. R. at 150. No physician has told her that she is permanently disabled. R. at 151. She received a \$2000.00 tax refund in 2007. R. at 152. She claimed the minor child as a tax exemption. Id.

JESSICA ELLIOTT

At the time of the trial, Jessica Elliott was nineteen years old and lived with the Appellee. R. at 154. She was enrolled in nursing school. Her father gave her \$400 for school expenses. R. at 155-156. She works approximately twenty five hours a week at Sonic at \$5.00 per hour. R. at 156. She tries to help her mother on groceries. R. at 157. She need a couple of hundred a month from her parents. This money would be used mainly for gas. R. at 158.

On cross examination Ms. Elliott admitted that Ms. Thomas and her son consume some of the groceries purchased by the Appellee. R. at 161. She receives tips at Sonic and these are in addition to the \$5.00 per hour that she makes. Id. At the end of this case she is going to apply for grants. Id.

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The chancellor erred in awarding the Appellee permanent periodic alimony in the amount of five hundred dollars per month. The chancellor awarded the Appellee sixty percent equitable interest in the marital home and land and exclusive use, possession and control of the aforesaid property. This property is debt free. The Appellee has three individuals residing in the marital home, one of whom is the minor child of parties. The daughter is contributing to the expenses of the home and the others adding to the expenses. An analysis of the factors utilized in awarding permanent alimony weighs in favor of the Appellant.

VII. ARGUMENT

The standard of review in a domestic relations matter is limited. A reviewing court may not disturb a chancellor's findings unless they are manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or if the chancellor has applied an erroneous legal standard. **Jundoosing v. Jundoosing**, 826 So. 2d 85, 88 (Miss. 2002).

The reversal of a chancellor's findings of fact may occur when there is no substantial credible evidence in the record to justify her findings.

Henderson v. Henderson, 757 So. 2d 285, 289 (Miss. 2000).

The general rule under which the amount of alimony to be awarded is calculated provides that the recipient should be entitled to a reasonable allowance commensurate with the standard of living to which he or she has become accustomed measured against the ability to pay on the part of the party subjected to the payment order. **Shows v. Shows**, 241 Miss. 716, 133 So. 2d 294 (1961). Periodic (permanent) alimony should be considered by the trial court only after due consideration has been given to the guidelines by which equitable division of marital assets are to be applied.

The trial court gave the Appellee the exclusive use, possession and control of the marital house and a sixty percent equity interest in the

aforesaid house. Clerk's record at 23. The equitable division of the marital house, which was the major asset of the parties, adequately provided for the needs of the Appellee. Henderson v. Henderson, 703 So. 2d 262 (Miss. 1997). There was no debt on this house. The Appellee had some financial assistance from the individuals who resided there with her. R. at 117 and 141. She benefited from a \$2000 tax refund that she did not use in calculating her average monthly income. The trial court also awarded her child support for the minor child of the parties of \$350.00 per month for the minor child of the parties. Clerk's record at 20. The Appellee also benefited from the use of a 1994 Buick LeSabre vehicle that was debt free. Id. at 21.

The Appellant interrogated the Appellee as to an application of the 12 factors to be considered in determining the amount of alimony to be awarded a party in a divorce case as setforth in **Hammonds v. Hammonds** 597 So. 2d 653 (Miss. 1992) R. at 147-150.

With respect to the income and expenses of the Appellee she claimed a gross income of \$1200 per month from her job as an assistant teacher.

Exhibit 1. She claimed expenses for herself of \$2174.50. Id.

With respect to her earning capacity, she did not believe that she make any more money. R. at 147.

With respect to the her needs, these are reflected in her financial statement and the testimony. R. at 148.

With respect to the obligations and assets of the Appellee had no house payment and no car payment, only every day living expenses. R. at 148.

With respect to the length of the marriage, the parties were married on February 12, 1982. Id.

With respect to the presence or absence of minor children in the home, there was one minor child in the home, Jessica. Id. This child contributes some to her own support. R. at 149.

With respect to the age of the Appellee, she was fifty four at the time of the trial. Id.

With respect to the standard of living of the parties, both during the marriage and at the time of the support determination, the Appellee had to watch expenses after the Appellant pulled his money out. Id. She did not live extravagantly. Id.

With respect to the tax consequences of any spousal support ordered, this would be decided by an application of the appropriate tax laws. Id.

With respect to fault or misconduct, she accused the Appellant of uncondoned adultery. Id.

With respect to wasteful dissipation of assets by either party, she

did not know how the Appellant spend the funds that he withdrew from a a 401 K plan. R. at 150.

With respect to any other factor deemed by the court to be just and equitable in connection with setting spousal support, she was of the opinion that she could make it on \$1000 per month. She could not pay her bills. She needed a minimum of \$1800 per month to pay her bills. R. at 150. She conceded that the major expense of individuals would be a house note and she did not have one. Id.

An analysis of these factors weigh in favor of the Appellant.

Applying the \$2000 tax refund to the Appellee on a monthly basis would increase her monthly income by \$166.66 per month. Adding the award of \$350 per month for child support would bring her monthly income to \$1516.66, excluding any funds given to her by Jessica and Ms. Thomas. She lacks a car note and a house payment to make. She will to inherit a fourth of her father's estate upon his death. The Appellee clearly had the ability to earn wages and was doing so at the time of the trial.

VIII. CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the Chancellor was manifestly wrong in awarding the Appellee periodic (permanent alimony in the amount of \$500 per Month.