## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### WALTER REID ELLIOTT

APPELLANT

V.

DOCKET NO.: 2008-CA-00575

**DOLORES ELAINE GARNER ELLIOTT** 

APPELLEE

## **APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

## APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF DESOTO COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

## **ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED**

H.R. Garner, 283 Losher Street P.O. Box 443 Hernando, MS 38632-0443 662-429-4411 Attorney for Appellee

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### WALTER REID ELLIOTT

## APPELLANT

**APPELLEE** 

V.

#### DOCKET NO.: 2008-CA-00575

#### **DOLORES ELAINE GARNER ELLIOTT**

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

#### The argument of the Appellee, Dolores Elaine Garner Elliott, is summarized as follows:

## ISSUE I: THE CHANCELLOR WAS CORRECT IN AWARDING THE APPELLEE PERMANENT ALIMONY IN THE AMOUNT OF \$500.00 PER MONTH, BASED UPON THE EVIDENCE ADDUCED AT TRIAL.

Based upon the evidence adduced at trial the Chancellor was correct in awarding the Appellee permanent alimony in the amount of five hundred dollars per month from the Appellant. Awarding the custody of the parties' minor child to Appellee, and requiring support to be paid by the Appellant . That the determination of the equitable distribution of the marital assets by the Chancellor was correct, in awarding the Appellant all his retirement funds, funds withdrawn from a 401k that he had withdrawn and spent; and 40% interest in the parties' marital home. The Chancellor was also correct based upon the evidence adduced at trial and the application of existing case law in awarding the Appellee 60 % interest in the parties' marital home, the exclusive use, possession, and control of same under certain conditions, awarding her small retirement to her, and other personal property. Also, by requiring each of the parties to pay their respective pro rata share to pay all taxes and insurance on the parties' marital home. An analysis of the evidence and the law in making these awards clearly weighs in favor of the Appellee.

#### ARGUMENT

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court "employs a limited standard of review" of the division of marital estate in divorces. Such division "will be upheld if it is supported by substantial credible evidence." This Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the Chancellor "even if this Court disagrees with the lower court on the finding of fact and might . . . (Arrive) at a different conclusion." <u>Owen v</u> <u>Owen</u>, 798 So2d 394 (Miss. 2001) (citations omitted). This Court will not disturb the findings of a Chancellor unless it appears that the Chancellor "was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous , or an erroneous legal standard was applied." <u>Ferguson v Ferguson</u>, 639 So2d 921, 930 (Miss. 1994) (citing Bell v Parker, 563 So2d 594, 596-97 (Miss. 1990).

# **B.** ISSUE I: THE CHANCELLOR WAS CORRECT IN AWARDING THE APPELLEE PERMANENT ALIMONY IN THE AMOUNT OF \$500.00 PER MONTH, BASED UPON THE EVIDENCE ADDUCED AT TRIAL.

The Chancellor in her opinion found that in regard to alimony that alimony and property distribution work together to provide for the parties after the divorce. <u>Buckley v Buckley</u>, 815 So2d 1260 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). The Chancellor, after equitable division and in light of the parties' non-marital assets, will adequately provide for both parties, then no more need be done. <u>Ferguson</u>, 639 So.2d at 929. If an equitable division of marital property, considered with each party's non-marital assets, leaves a deficit for one party, then alimony should be considered. <u>King vs. King</u>, 760 So.2d 830 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). Pursuant to <u>Hammonds vs. Hammonds</u>, 597 So.2d 653 (Miss. 1992), the following factors are to be considered by the Court: (1) The income and expenses of the parties; (2) The earning capacity of the parties; (3) The needs of each party; (4) The obligations and assets of each party; (5) The length of the marriage; (6) The presence of minor children in the home; (7) The age of the parties; (8) The standard of living of the parties; (9) Tax consequences of a spousal support order; (10) Fault of misconduct; (11) Wasteful dissipation of assets by either party; (12) Any other factor deemed to be just and equitable.

The Chancellor first determined what property of the parties based upon the evidence at the trial was marital and non-marital as defined under Hemsley vs. Hemsley, 639 So.2d 915 (Miss. 1994), and directed by Ferguson vs. Ferguson, 639 So.2d 921 (Miss. 1994). The Court then applied the Ferguson guidelines which the Court should consider: 1. Substantial contribution to the accumulation of the property as evidenced by direct or indirect economic contributions to the acquisition, contribution to the stability and harmony of the marital and family relationships. contribution to the education, training or other accomplishment bearing on the earning power of the spouse accumulating the assets: 2. The degree to which each spouse has expended, withdrawn or otherwise disposed of marital assets and any prior distribution of such assets by agreement, decree or otherwise; 3. The market value and emotional value of the assets subject to distribution; 4. The value of assets not ordinarily, absent equitable factors to the contrary, subject to such distribution such as property brought to the marriage by the parties and property acquired by inheritance or by gift by or to an individual; 5. Tax and other economic consequence; and 6. The extent to which property division may, with equity to both parties be utilized to eliminate periodic payments and other potential sources of future friction between the parties; the needs of the parties for financial security; and any other factor which inequity should be considered. (TR 181, MRE 25)

The Chancellor being directed to consider the wife's contribution as a homemaker and care giver of the children is considered equal to that of the husband's contribution that earns a salary and maintains a business. <u>Ferguson</u>, *supra*. Assuming for divorce purposes that the contributions and efforts of the marital partners, whether economic, domestic or otherwise, are of equal value. <u>Hemsley vs. Hemsley</u>, 639 So.2d 915 (Miss. 1994). (TR 181, MRE 25)

The Chancellor must then apply the guidelines of <u>Ferguson</u> and the principles set forth in <u>Hemsley</u>

The Chancellor finding in her Opinion as follows:

The next issue that the Court or the next issues that the Court has to determine is an equitable division of your marital assets, a determination of if there's an award of alimony and if so, what that will be. And those are basically the other issues. (TR 180, MRE 24)

the only thing left for the Court to determine is an equitable division of the marital assets and whether there will be an alimony award and if so, how much. And I'm going to -- I'm going to talk for a few minutes about the legal considerations, the legal facts that the Court has to consider because they are similar in a division of -- an equitable division of the property of the parties and an alimony award. (TR 180-181, MRE 24-25)

Although they are outlined by different cases, the Supreme Court has given some direction to us Judges about what factors we are to consider when we are making an equitable distribution of the marital assets and also an award of alimony. (TR 181, MRE 25)

The <u>Ferguson</u> case basically sets out factors that we are to consider in making an equitable division of the parties -- of the property and one of those is the contribution of the parties; the respective contributions of the parties to the accumulation of the marital assets. And <u>Ferguson</u> very clearly outlines or stands for the proposition that the

homemaker's contribution is presumed to be equal to those of the wage earner. (TR 181, MRE 25)

We're also supposed to consider the needs of the parties; the respective needs of the parties. Each party's separate estate. And we're supposed to also consider, in making a division of the martial assets, if we can possibly alleviate the need for alimony in making our decision. Also, we're supposed to determine whether fault is a factor -- the fault in the marriage. (TR 182, MRE 26)

And, the prior use or prior distribution of assets. If the parties have, by their own actions prior to coming into court, already divided the assets or if one party has dissipated some of the marital assets on their own or by agreement of the parties, and the actual value of the assets. The value of each asset; their real value as well as the emotional value of the assets. Also, the tax consequences of the distribution need to be considered by the Court. (TR 182, MRE 26)

And, as I stated earlier, the factors that the Court must consider in making an award of alimony are outlined in the case of <u>Armstrong</u> (<u>Armstrong v. Armstrong</u>, 618 So.2d 1278, 1280 (Miss. 1993), (<u>Hemsley vs. Hemsley</u>, 639 So.2d 915 (Miss. 1994), and some of these factors are similar or the same as for the equitable distribution. (TR 182-183, MRE 26-27)

The Court has to consider the income of the parties, the standard of living of the parties at the marriage - - or during the marriage, as well as at the time the Court's making this Order; and the expenses, the reasonable expenses of each party's; whether either party's is going to be awarded free use of the home or the car or any other assets; the

presence or absence of children in the home requiring expenses or child care for that child; the respective obligations of each party; the assets of each party, if there are any separate non-marital assets; and any disparity in the income of the parties, if there's -- a disparity exists, then we have to address those issues. (TR 183, MRE 27)

The length of the marriage is a very important factor; the age and health of the parties, fault on the part of the parties and also whether either one of the parties again has made any dissipation of the marital assets, and any other factors that the Court considers important or relevant to the distribution -- I mean to the alimony award and also the tax consequences of the alimony award. (TR 183-184, MRE 27-28)

. . .

The first fact is that this was a 26 year marriage and that is a very important factor. (TR 184, MRE 28)

• • •

However, I am given direction by the Supreme Court about factors I am to consider and in a study of when the Courts have awarded alimony in marriages over 20 years, there is a much greater percentage of alimony awards. Especially in this particular case, Mrs. Elliott was a homemaker for most of -- well, for all of the marriage -- the latter part of the marriage, maybe about the last 10 years, I think, there was testimony that you worked part time with your brother as a dental technician. But, you testified, Mrs. Elliott, your brother testified, your dad testified, and Mr. Elliott testified that Mr. Elliott wanted you to be a homemaker. He wanted you to take care of the home. This was an agreement that the two of you made. Usually, regardless of what the agreement has been during the marriage, usually by the time people get to me, the husband is all of a sudden deciding that wasn't his agreement, even though that even though that might have been the path that the parties have taken for some time. But Mr. Elliott does not disagree that this was his choice. That he wanted you to stay home and take care of the family and be a homemaker. Everyone who testified testified that you had done so and you had done so in a very – you have done a real good job of that. (TR 185-186, MRE 29-30)

The respective ages of the parties . . . are 58 and 54, . . . you're not of an age that you're going to have a good chance of getting a lot of work or able to start a new career, but, you're also not old enough to start drawing Social Security or to actually retire so I think that is important. (TR 186, MRE 30)

There is one minor child in your home who is a college student to be provided for. The Court has given that some consideration. (TR 186-187, MRE 30-31)

. . .

Both you and Mr. Elliott, Mr. and Mrs. Elliott testified that they had some health issues. Mr. Elliott testified that he has some back problems, some knee problems, he has a high cholesterol condition but it seems to be controlled by medication. (TR 187, MRE 31)

The wife testified that she had carpal tunnel syndrome, her left wrist was worn out, she had high blood pressure, some arthritis or other problems in her feet, her neck, her knees and back. (TR 187, MRE 31) Neither one of you seem to have health issues that would keep you from doing any sort of work or that would qualify either one of you for Social Security Disability. (TR 187, MRE 31)

However, neither one of you testified that you have some debilitating health issues. (TR 188, MRE 32)

With regard to your education, neither one of you completed high school, but both of you, at some point later, obtained a GED. (TR 188, MRE 32)

There was testimony that Mr. Elliott has some training in technical schools as a mechanic and he has continued that training as he has worked all of the years outside in the public. He has used that training he had received training and he put the training to use in his employment. (TR 188, MRE 32)

There was testimony that you( Dolores Elaine Garner Elliott )graduated from beauty school about 35years ago and that you had skills that you had as a dental technician were basically acquired through your apprenticeship. You have never -- or I think maybe you testified for a year or just a short period of time, actually practiced the skills -your beauty school skills. (TR 188-189, MRE 32-33)

Mr. Elliott has continued to work. He's worked all throughout your marriage. He's worked as a mechanic, a shop foreman and presently he's the head of the school bus shop for the DeSoto County Schools Department of Transportation and he has been there for about three years. (TR 189, MRE 33)

The Court found that his present job and his income is a little bit less than it was in past years. He testified he left some of the other jobs that he had because he was getting older and it was a little harder to do some of the work that he did. But, he still has an income that's more than three times the income of Mrs. Elliott. (TR 189, MRE 33)

Mrs. Elliott's work history has primarily been as a homemaker. She's been a part time dental technician for about ten years, but her testimony was that her carpal tunnel syndrome and the problem with her wrist will prevent her from using that training to continue to do that because her body is just not going to allow her to do *it*. She's worked for about a year in the DeSoto County School system as a teacher's assistant and that is probably going to be about the limit of what she's going to be able to do as far as employment. (TR 189-190, MRE 33-34)

The next category that I have to consider or the next issue is . . . (the) respective earning capacities. . . . Mr. Elliott's earning capacity based on his present earnings is at least three times Mrs. Elliott's earning capacity. (TR 190, MRE 34)

Her gross . . . a little bit over a \$1,000 a month and his is about 3,900 a month. Her net, as she testified was about 948 or \$950 a month. His net's about \$2,600 a month, possibly . . . more than that. (TR 190, MRE 34)

He (Walter Reid Elliott) was also working part time at the Civic Center. He quit doing that about the time that the divorce action was filed. But, that possibly could be another source of income that he could have. He has done it in the past for several years. I

think he only it only netted him about \$2,000 a year, but still, it was about \$2,000 a year. (TR 190-191, MRE 34-35)

The testimony was uncontradicted that Mrs. Elliott has been a good wife and a good caregiver for her family as well as for her extended family. The fault in the divorce 1 as I found earlier rests with Mr. Elliott. He has had numerous affairs; at least two that we know about that were testified to. (TR 191, MRE 35)

The decision for her to stay at home and be a homemaker and a caregiver was a mutual decision. Both parties testified as well as the other witnesses who testified. (TR 191, MRE 35)

... there was testimony that Mr. Elliott had cashed in a 401(k) and that she received none of that money. And as far as dissipation of marital assets, I think there was -- other than that, both parties have lived pretty conservatively. (TR 191, MRE 35)

Mr. Elliott -- there was testimony that as he was entertaining his lady friends, he did spend some money on them. There was not a lot of proof about that. Donna Taylor did testify though that when she and Mr. Elliott were out together that he paid for food and drink or whatever they needed and that he bought her a gift or two. So, if there was any dissipation of marital assets I would think it would have been on the part of Mr. Elliott. (TR 191-192, MRE 35-36)

... dividing the marital assets I first have to determine what assets are marital what are non-marital. Well in your situation I did not hear any testimony that there were non-marital assets. (TR 192, MRE 36)

... all assets that you had are marital assets. The family home; the contents of the home; the items that Mr. Elliott has removed from the family home; your -- Mrs. Elliott's car, which is a 1995 Buick; Mr. Elliott's truck; which is a 1982 Chevrolet truck, Mr. Elliott's retirement that he testified he's not vested in, but he is contributing, probably because he is required to present retirement. He has some tools. He had a 401(k) that he cashed in. (TR 192-193, MRE 36-37)

The only asset . . . I would consider a non-marital asset is the child's car. . . . (TR 193, MRE 37)

All of the other property is basically marital assets. . . . In making a distribution . . . the husband is going to be allowed to keep his state retirement and the 401(k} that he cashed in. (TR 193-194, MRE 37-38)

I am awarding the 1995 Buick, to her (Dolores Elaine Garner Elliott). I am awarding the 1982 Chevrolet truck to Mr. Elliott and I say these things because I believe that the testimony was they're probably titled in both of your names. So, I am making the respective awards and you can swap titles to actually facilitate the ownership being given to one or the other. (TR 194, MRE 38)

... I am awarding the household furnishings and all of the furnishings that are left at the household -- at the home, to Mrs. Elliott. I am awarding to Mr. Elliott those items that he's removed from the household and his tools that he testified that he's removed. (TR 194, MRE 38)

... upon questioning by the Court, I asked Mr. Elliott is there anything else at the home that you need, that you want, that you have any need of, and he said no. He had removed everything from the home that was his, so I'm going to award to him those things that he has previously removed from the home. (TR 194-195, MRE 38-39)

I am going to award to the wife the exclusive use and possession of the family home for her lifetime, unless she remarries, moves out of the home or moves some male into the home with whom she's romantically involved and not married to. Until one of those items happens, if they do, Mrs. Elliott will have exclusive use and possession of the marital home. (TR 195, MRE 39)

... at some point, one of those contingencies will happen and then the parties still own the home together, so there's going to be, there will have to be a division at that time, of the home. I am making a finding that the husband is going to be awarded 40 percent of the equity in the home. (TR 194, MRE 38)

. . .

I'm making this 40/60 percent award for several reasons. One is there's testimony that Mrs. Elliott's father gave them the land that the house is on. There's also testimony that Mrs. Elliott's father helped with the construction of the house and Mrs. Elliott helped with the construction of the house. The parties paid for the house -- the actual house, not the land, during the course of the marriage from their income and each of them made, I'm going to say, substantial contributions to the acquisition of the property. However, the reason that I'm making the different percentage award is partially because Mrs. Elliott's

father actually gave them the land that the house is on and it's partially because I am allowing Mr. Elliott to keep his state retirement and to keep the 401(k) that he cashed in. (TR 197, MRE 41)

I am making a slightly larger award of the equity of the home to Mrs. Elliott, to try to even out those inequities. (TR 198, MRE 42)

The only other issue that the Court has got to address . . . is the payment or nonpayment of periodic alimony. (TR 198, MRE 42)

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